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DOCUMENTED VETERAN ANCESTORS OF EDWARD GILMER 

 
PRIVATE BENJAMIN VERMILLION, CIVIL WAR, COMPANY A, 

16TH VIRGINIA CAVALRY, CONFEDERATE 
 

PRIVATE JACOB W. CHARLES, CIVIL WAR, COMPANY B, 60TH 
TENNESSE MOUNTED INFANTRY, CONFEDERATE 

 
PRIVATE JACOB M. CHARLES, CIVIL WAR, CAPTAIN MILLER’S 

COMPANY, TENNESSEE LOCAL DEFENSE TROOPS, 
CONFEDERATE 

 
COLONEL GEORGE HALE, WAR OF 1812, COMMANDER OF 

4TH REGIMENT, HAWKINS COUNTY MILITIA 
 

PVT JESSE VERMILLION, WAR OF 1812, CAPTAIN WILLIAM 
CROMWELL’S COMPANY, VIRGINIA MILITIA 

 
MANY OTHER DIRECT GRANDFATHERS HELD MILITARY 

TITLES BUT DIDN’T SERVE IN ANY CONFLICTS. QUICK 
GLANCES SEE MANY UNCLES AND COUSINS WHO ALSO 

SERVED. 
 
 

 
 
 



TO: The (Client Name) Family  

 

SUBJECTS: The family and ancestors of Edward Douglass Gilmer 
 

RESEARCH QUESTION OR GOAL: Discover and document the family members and ancestors of Edward 

Douglass Gilmer, including relevant facts. The results are documented in various reports, with the highlight 

report in a bullet point style summary of interesting ancestors. 

 

BACKGROUND SUMMARY: The client’s father passed away recently and many of the family stories were 

lost with him. The client knows many of the names, dates and locations of as far back as their Grandparents but 

not past there. This information has been provided to the genealogist. The client does not know any family 

stories or where they come from and any information past their grandparents will be new information. 

 

RESOURCES USED: 

             Ancestry 

            Family Search 

            Fold-3 

            Find-A-Grave 

            Newspapers.com 
 

            RESTRICTIONS OR LIMITATIONS: None 

 

SUMMARY OF RESEARCH FINDINGS: The family tree of Edward Douglass Gilmer over the last two 

centuries are almost entirely in two locations. Russell County, Virginia for his father’s side, and Hawkins 

County, Tennessee on his mother’s side. A few branches reach into Culpeper County, Virginia, and North 

Carolina. The family arrived in their locations early in the frontier period and were able to secure large pieces of 

land, which made most of them at least moderately wealthy. They were leaders in their communities with many 

of them serving as military officers and politicians.   

 

Most of the ancestors were farmers but we also see merchants, a minister and an insurance salesman. Five 

veterans have been found in this tree, to include three Civil War Confederates, one of which fought at 

Gettysburg and two War of 1812 veterans, one of which was the Colonel of the Hawkins County, Tennessee 

Militia. Several others with military titles have been found without military records and likely were in their 

local militias. It appears that most, if not all branches lead to Revolutionary War Veterans, and their land grants 

are likely what lead them to the frontier of western Virginia, and Tennessee.  

 

It is undetermined as to the ethnic background of these ancestors in this report but appear to be a mixture of 

English, Scottish, Scots-Irish, German, and possibly one French branch. More, deeper research will need to be 

done to determine this because we do not have any immigrant ancestors in this level of the report. No Native 

Americans were found in this report. Six slave holding ancestors were found with as many as forty-two slave in 

their care.  

 

GENEALOGIST COMMENTS: The Edward Douglas Gilmer family tree is unique due to the amount 

of wealth and prominent people that make up its branches. Their prominence and documentation had led 

to this report being extremely long compared to most and we are blessed to be able to learn so much 

about so many individuals, as well as family groups. The families appear to be hard working, strong 

Christians in a tight knit community. It appears that many of the direct ancestors of this report had 



siblings that intermarried into other families that appear in this family tree. Both sides have a 

Confederate veteran which speaks to their love of community. In multiple occasions we find at least 

three generations living in one house, they took care of their own.  

 

All ancestors are matched to how they are kin to (Client Name), such as 2x great-grandfather, etc., so 

future generations in the family will know their relation to each family member. The report reads in 

direct male lines until an end is found, and then moves over to the closet female line, etc. 

 

It has truly been a treat to spend some much time learning about the ancestors of Edward Douglas 

Gilmer and bringing them back to life! May they never be forgotten! 

 

 

FURTHER RESEARCH SUGGESTION: More details can be found about the people in this report. This 

project can be extended in other Family Tree Nuts packages that reach deeper into history. Searches in local 

repositories will no doubt turn up wills, deeds and other family records that have not been scanned into online 

formats. At any time, more research can be done on any person or group of people in this family tree. The 

purpose of this project was to find the name and locations of the ancestors. It is entirely possible to learn more 

facts about many of the people in this tree. It truly is unending. 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



INTERESTING ANCESTOR FINDINGS FOR THE ANCESTORS OF EDWARD DOUGLAS GILMER 

(1933-2002) 
 

 

• Suzanne (Client Name) is the base for this report and was born Day Month Year, in Town, State, 

to Edward Douglas Gilmer and Betsy Susan Roberts. 

 

• (Client Name) married (Client Spouse) on Day Month Year, in Town, State. 

 

 

 

 

 

• Edward Douglas Gilmer is the father of (Client Name), and was born 7 April 1922, in Beckley, 

Raleigh County, West Virginia, to Edward Theophilus Gilmer, Jr., and Alice Eastman Hale. 

 

• In 1940, Edward lived in Beckley, Raleigh, West Virginia, with his parents. His father was an 

insurance agent, and had completed three years of college, rented the house for $25 a month, and 

made $1,200 a year. Edward’s mother had completed one year of high school. 

 

1940 U.S. Census 

 
 

 

• In 1950, Edward lived in Beckley, Raleigh County, West Virginia, with his parents, and his 

mothers, mother. His father was the owner/manager of an insurance company and had worked 

eighty hours the previous week. 

 

1950 U.S. Census 

 
 

 

 

Photo said to be Edward Gilmer in the 1951 Woodrow Wilson High School Yearbook, found on 

ancestry.com 



 
 

 

• Edward married Betsy Susan Roberts on 1 September 1962, in Beckley, Raleigh County, West 

Virginia. 

 

Wedding announcement for Edward and Betsy, published in the Beckley Post-Herald and the Raleigh 

Register, on 2 September 1962, found on newspapers.com 

 



• Edward died 10 December 20, in Morgantown, West Virginia, and is buried in Russell Memorial 

Cemetery, in Lebanon, Russell County, Virginia. 

 

Headstone photo of Edward Gilmer found on findagrave.com 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

• Grandfather Edward Theophilus Gilmer, Jr. was born 20 May 1900, in Lebanon, Virginia, to 

Edward “Tot” Theophilus Gilmer, Sr., and Ida Utah Vermillion. 

 

• In 1900, Edward lived in Lebanon, Russell County, Virginia, with his parents, and six siblings. 

His father was a farmer and owned his farm outright. Edward’s sister Dora was a schoolteacher. 

They lived between two other Gilmer families, likely Edward’s brothers, who were also farmers. 

 

1900 U.S. Census 

 
 

• In 1910, Edward lived in Lebanon, Russell County, Virginia, with his parents, and three sisters. 

His father was a laborer, and a farmer who owned his own farm, and could read and write. 

 

1910 U.S. Census 

 



• In 1917, Edward registered for the WWI Draft. He lived in Russell County, Virginia, had a 

slender build, was medium height, had brown hair, and gray eyes. 

 

U.S., World War I Draft Registration Cards, 1917-1918 

     
 

 

• In 1920, Edward lived on the Lebanon-Abingdon Turn Pike, in Lebanon, Russell County, 

Virginia, with his parents, and sister Mattie. He could read and write, and while twenty-years 

old, he was attending school. His father was a farmer and owned his farm outright. 

 

1920 U.S. Census 

 
 

 

• In 1930, Edward lived alone on Broad Street, in Saint Paul, Wise County, Virginia. He was a 

Methodist Minister, rented his house, did not own a radio, and could read and write. 

 

1930 U.S. Census 

 
 

 

• Edward married Alice Eastman Hale on 14 June 1932, in Hamblen, Tennessee. 

 

 

 



Tennessee, U.S., Marriage Records, 1780-2002 

 
 

 

Edward and Alice’s wedding announcement published in The Bristol News Bulletin, in Bristol, 

Tennessee, on 14 May 1932, found on newspapers.com 

 
 

 

• In 1940, Edward lived in Beckley, Raleigh, West Virginia, with his wife and son Edward, Jr. He 

was an insurance agent, and had completed three years of college, rented the house for $25 a 

month, and made $1,200 a year. His wife Alice had completed one year of high school. 

 

• Edward registered for the WWII Draft, while living at Beckley, Raleigh County, West Virginia. 

His employer was Mutual Life Insurance Company. He was 5’7” tall, 160lbs., had brown hair, 

hazel eyes, and a ruddy completion.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



U.S., World War II Draft Cards Young Men, 1940-1947 

    
 

 

 

• In 1950, Edward lived in Beckley, Raleigh County, West Virginia, with his wife, son Edward, Jr, 

and his mother-in-law. He was the owner/manager of an insurance company and had worked 

eighty hours the previous week. 

 

• Edward died 24 March 1984, in Beckley, Raleigh County, West Virginia, and is buried in 

Russell Memorial Cemetery, in Lebanon, Russell County, Virginia. 

 

Headstone photo for Edward Gilmer, Jr., found on findagrave.com 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 



Obituary for Edward Gilmer, Jr., published in the Kingsport Times-News, in Kingsport, Tennessee, on 

29 March 1984, found on newspapers.com 

 
 

 

 

 

• Great-Grandfather Edward “Tot” Theophilus Gilmer, Sr, was born 17 July 1854, in Russell 

County, Virginia, to Cummings Gilmer, and Mary Polly Browning. 

 

• In 1860, Tot lived in Lebanon, Russell County, Virginia, with his parents, and twelve siblings. 

His father was a farmer, and his real estate was valued at $22,440, and his personal estate valued 

at $3,000. This is very large for the time period. Next door lived Samuel Gilman, likely Tot’s 

father’s brother, and his real estate was valued at $48,000. 

 

    1860 U.S. Census 

  



• In 1870, Tot lived in Lebanon, Russell County, Virginia, with his parents, and eleven siblings. 

He was a farme laborer, likely on his father’s farm. His father was a farmer, and his real estate 

was valued at $8,000, and personal estate valued at $1,500. 

 

1870 U.S. Census 

 
 

 

 

 

 

• Tot married Ida Utah Vermillion on 17 October 1877, in Russell County, Virginia.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

Marriage license for Edward and Ida, found on ancestry.com 



 
 

 

• In 1880, Tot lived in Lebanon, Russell County, Virginia, with his wife and daughters Dora and 

Martha, and a twelve-year-old black boy named William Gray. He was a farm hand. William 

was a servant. 

 

1880 U.S. Census 

 
 



• In 1900, Tot lived in Lebanon, Russell County, Virginia, with his wife and seven children. He 

was a farmer and owned his farm outright. His daughter Dora was a schoolteacher. They lived 

between two other Gilmer families, likely Tot’s brothers, who were also farmers. 

 

• In 1910, Tot lived in Lebanon, Russell County, Virginia, with his wife and four children. He was 

a laborer, and a farmer who owned his own farm, and could read and write. 

 

• In 1920, Tot lived on the Lebanon-Abingdon Turn Pike, in Lebanon, Russell County, Virginia, 

with his wife, son Edward, Jr., and daughter Mattie. He was a farmer and owned his farm 

outright 

 

• In 1930, Tot lived in Lebanon, Russell County, Virginia, with his daughter Mattie. He was 

widowed, lived on a farm, did not own a radio set, and his home was valued at $3,000. He did 

not have an occupation. 

 

1930 U.S. Census 

 
 

• Tot died of carcinoma of the stomach, on 6 April 1941, in Lebanon, Russell County, Virginia, 

and is buried in Russell Memorial Cemetery, in Lebanon, Russell County, Virginia. 

 

Virginia, U.S., Death Records, 1912-2014 

 



Headstone photos for Edward “Tot” Gilmer, found on findagrave.com 

    
 

 

Obituary for Edward “Tot” Gilmer, published in The Bristol Herald Courier, in Bristol, Tennessee, on 7 

April 1941, found on newspapers.com 

   
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



Photo said to be of Tot Gilmer and family, likely from circa 1920, found on ancestry.com 

 
 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

• 2nd Great-Grandfather Cummings Gilmer was born 9 March 1799, in Lebanon, Russell County, 

Virginia, to William Morgan Gilmer, and Martha Edmiston. 

 

• In 1830, Cummings lived in Russell County, Virginia, with one other family member. 

 

• Cummings married Mary Browning, about 1833, likely in Russell County, Virginia.  

 

• In 1840, Cummings lived in Russell County, Virginia, with six other family members. One 

person was employed in agriculture. 

 



• In 1850, Cummings, lived in Russell County, Virginia, with his wife, and eight children. He was 

a farmer, and his real estate was valued at $8,000. 

 

1850 U.S. Census 

 
 

 

• In 1850, Cummings owned two slaves. A nineteen-year-old female, and a two-year-old mulatto 

boy. 

 

1850 U.S. Federal Census- Slave Schedules 

 
 

 

• In 1860, Cummings lived in Lebanon, Russell County, Virginia, with his wife and thirteen 

children. He was a farmer, and his real estate was valued at $22,440, and his personal estate 

valued at $3,000. This is very large for the time period. Next door lived Samuel Gilman, likely 

Tot’s father’s brother, and his real estate was valued at $48,000. 

 

• In 1860, Cummings owned three slaves. A twenty-six-year-old woman, a four-year-old female, 

and a one-year-old female. Samuel Gilmore likely his brother owned fifteen slaves, and John 

Browning, likely his brother-in-law, owned fourteen slaves. 

 

1860 U.S. Federal Census- Slave Schedules 

 
 

 

• In 1870, Cummings lived in Lebanon, Russell County, Virginia, with his wife and twelve 

children. He was a farmer, and his real estate was valued at $8,000, and personal estate valued at 

$1,500. 



• Cummings died 19 January 1871, in Lebanon, Russell County, Virginia. 

 

Photo or chalking said to be Cummings Gilmer, circa 1850, found on ancestry.com 

 
 

 

 

 

• 3rd Great-Grandparents William Morgan Gilmer and Martha Edminston. 

 

• More can be learned about these ancestors in the Settles Package.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

• 2nd Great-Grandmother Mary Polly Browning was born 29 May 1818, in Russell County, 

Virginia, to John Browning and Sarah Sally Burk. 

 

• Polly married Cummings Gilmer, about 1833, likely in Russell County, Virginia. Her story 

matches her husbands until his death in 1871. 

 

• In 1880, Polly lived in Lebanon, Russell County, Virginia, with her sister or sister-in-law, 

Arminda, and her much younger brother-in-law James Childers., she was a widow and could 

read but not write.  

 

 

 



1880 U.S. Census 

 
 

 

• Polly died in October 1882, in Russell County, Virginia.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

• 3rd Great-Grandparents John Browning and Sarah Sally Burk. 

 

• More can be learned about these ancestors in the Settles Package.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

• Great-Grandmother Ida Utah Vermillion was born 29 September 1858, in Lebanon, Russell 

County, Virginia, to Benjamin Franklin Vermillion, and Mary Catherine Reynolds. 

 

• In 1860, Ida lived in New Castle, Russell County, Virginia, with her parents and one sister. Her 

father was a farmer, and his personal estate was valued at $500. 

 

1860 U.S. Census 

 
 

 

• In 1870, Ida lived in Lebanon, Russell County, Virginia, with her parents and four siblings. Her 

father was a farmer, and his personal estate was valued at $500. Both sets of her grandparents 

lived in the next two houses. 

 

 

 

 



1870 U.S. Census 

 
 

 

• Ida married Edward “Tot” Gilmer Vermillion on 17 October 1877, in Russell County, Virginia. 

Her story matches her husbands until her death.  

 

• Ida died of cancer of the breast and liver on 5 June1925, in Russell County, Virginia, and is 

buried in Russell Memorial Cemetery, in Lebanon, Russell County, Virginia. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



Virginia, U.S., Death Records, 1912-2014 

 
 

 

Headstone photo of Ida Vermillion found on findagrave.com 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

• 2nd Great-Grandfather Benjamin Franklin Vermillion was born 23 May 1838, in Russell County, 

Virginia, to Jesse Vermillion, and Obedience Biddy Elliott. 

 

• In 1850, Benjamin lived in Russell County, Virginia, with his parents, and five siblings. His 

father was a farmer, and his real estate was valued at $2,300. 



• 1850 U.S. Census 

 

 
 

 

• Benjamin married Mary Catherine Reynolds on 10 December 1857, in Russell County, Virginia. 

 

• In 1860, Benjamin lived in New Castle, Russell County, Virginia, with his wife and two 

daughters. He was a farmer, and his personal estate was valued at $500. 

 

• Benjamin served in the Civil War as a Private in Company A, 16th Virginia Cavalry, 

Confederate. Benjamin enlisted on 1 January 1863, in Lebanon, Russell County, Virginia, for 

three years. He was present with his until 31 October 1863, when he was listed as “absent sick” 

until 31 October 1864. He was present with his unit again in November and December of 1864. 

During the time that he is listed as present, his unit fought in the Battles of Chancellorsville (May 

1863), Gettysburg (July 1863) and the Richmond Petersburg Campaign (June 1864-March 

1865). No records are found of him being with his unit after 31 December 1864, but he could 

have been present. The unit wasn’t mustered out until after Appomattox in April 1865.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



Civil War records for Benjamin Vermillion found on fold3.com 

      
 

      
 

 



• In 1870, Benjamin lived in Lebanon, Russell County, Virginia, with his wife and five children. 

He was a farmer, and his personal estate was valued at $500. Both sets of his parents and his in-

laws lived in the next two houses. 

 

• In 1880, Benjamin lived in New Lebanon, Russell County, Virginia, with his wife and two 

daughters. He was a farmer. 

 

1880 U.S. Census 

 
 

 

 

• In 1900, Benjamin lived in Lebanon, Russell County, Virginia, with his wife, daughter Alice, her 

husband and six grandchildren. He was a farmer, owned his farm outright, and could read and 

write. 

 

1900 U.S. Census 

 

 
 

 

• In 1910, Benjamin lived in Baylor, Russell County, Virginia, with his daughter Bettie Thomas, 

and their three children, as well as to servants James Cooper, and Maud Hendricks. He was 

widowed and a survivor of the Confederate Army. His son-in-law Jefferson Thomas was a 

farmer and rented his farm. 

 

1910 U.S. Census 

 



• Benjamin had a fall on 7 August 1913, and died of paralysis, 15 October 1913, in Lebanon, 

Russell County, Virginia. He is buried in Lynch-Reynolds Cemetery, in Lebanon, Russell 

County Virginia. 

 

Virginia, U.S., Death Records, 1912-2014 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



Headstone photos for Benjamin Vermillion, found on findagrave.com 

      
 

 

 

 

 

• 3rd Great Grandfather Jesse Vermillion, Jr. was born 2 May 1795, in Russell County, Virginia, to 

Jesse Vermillion, Sr., and Mary Polly Scott. 

 

• Jesse served in the War of 1812, as a Private in in Captain William Cromwell’s Company, 

Virginia Militia. Later in life he received a pension, and is on the Russell County, Virginia 

Pensioners List in 1840. 

 

U.S., War of 1812 Pension Application Files Index, 1812-1815 

 



• In 1820, Jesse lived in Russell County, Virginia, with four other family members. One person 

was engaged in agriculture.  

 

• Jesse married Nancy Obedience “Biddy” Elliott on 25 July 1827, in Russell County, Virginia. 

 

• In 1840, Jesse lived in Russell County, Virginia, with five other family members, and one slave, 

a girl aged 10-23.  

 

• In 1850, Jesse lived in Russell County, Virginia, with his wife and six children. He was a farmer, 

and his real estate was valued at $2,300.  

• In 1850, Jesse owned two slaves, a 21-year-old female and a 2-year-old mulatto boy. 

 

1850 U.S. Federal Census- Slave Schedules 

 
 

 

• In 1860, Jesse lived in Lebanon, Russell County, Virginia, with his wife, son Jesse, and daughter 

Sarah. He was a farmer, and his real estate was valued at $5,625, and his personal estate was 

valued at $1,200. They lived just a few houses down from Ira & Leah Reynolds that are also in 

this tree. 

 

1860 U.S. Census 

 
 

 

• In 1870, Jesse lived in Lebanon, Russell County, Virginia, with his wife. He was a farmer, and 

his real estate was valued at $3,00, and his personal estate valued at $500. They lived next from 

Ira & Leah Reynolds that are also in this tree. 

 

 

1870 U.S. Census 

 



 

• Jesse died 24 February 1877, in Russell County, Virginia.  

 

Virginia, U.S., Wills, and Probate Records, 1652-1900 

 

 



 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

• 4th Great-Grandparents Jesse Vermillion, Sr., and Mary Polly Scott. 

 

• More can be learned about these ancestors in the Settles Package.  

 

• JESSE APPEARS TO BE A REVOLUTIONARY WAR PATRIOT 



• 3rd Great-Grandmother Obedience “Biddy” Elliot was born 20 December 1807 in Russell 

County, Virginia, to James Peter Elliot, and Obedience Parsley.  

 

• Biddy married Jesse Vermillion on 25 July 1827, in Russell County, Virginia. Her story matches 

her husbands until his death in 1877.  

 

• In 1880 Biddy lived in Barbourville, Knox County, Kentucky, with her son George, his wife 

Mary, and George’s stepson. George was a farmer. 

 

1880 U.S. Census 

 

 
 

 

• Biddy died after 1880, likely in Barbourville, Knox County, Kentucky. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

• 4th Great-Grandparents James Peter Elliott and Obedience Parsley. 

 

• More can be learned about these ancestors in the Settles Package. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

• 2nd Great-Grandmother Mary Catherine Reynolds was born 1 June 1840, in Russell County, 

Virginia, to Ira Reynolds, and Leah Fuller. 

 

• In 1850, Mary lived in Russell County, Virginia, with her parents, and four siblings. Her father 

was a farmer, and his real estate was valued at $2,100. This record says that her father was born 

in Henrico County, Virginia, but all other records seem to lead to Russell County, Virginia. 

 

 

 



1850 U.S. Census 

 
 

 

• Mary married Benjamin Franklin Vermillion on 10 December 1857, in Russell County, Virginia. 

Her story matches her husbands until her death. 

 

• Mary died 27 November 1906, in Russell County, Virginia, and is buried in Lynch-Reynolds 

Cemetery, in Lebanon, Russell County, Virginia. 

 

Headstone photo for Mary Reynolds found on findagrave.com 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 



• 3rd Great-Grandfather Ira Reynolds was born 27 November 1803, in Henrico County, Virginia, to 

Bernhard Henry Reynolds, and Lucy Johnston. Interestingly, his parents were born in Russell 

County, as was everyone else in this branch, so the family must have had him while visiting or 

living near Richmond, Virginia. 

 

• Ira married Leah Fuller, on 12 April 1832, in Russell County, Virginia. 

 

• In 1850, Ira lived in Russell County, Virginia, with his wife and five children. He was a farmer, 

and his real estate was valued at $2,100. This record says that he was born in Henrico County, 

Virginia, as does his death record.  

 

• In 1860, Ira lived in Lebanon, Russell County, Virginia, with his wife and four children. He was 

a farmer, and his real estate was valued at $7,471, and his personal estate valued at $1,200. His 

son’s Johnson, and Isaac were also farmers and Isaac’s personal estate was valued at $1,600. 

They lived just a few houses down from Jesse & Biddy Vermillion that are also in this tree. 

 

1860 U.S. Census 

 
 

 

• In 1870, Ira lived in Lebanon, Russell County, Virginia, with his wife, daughter Eliza, and likely 

granddaughter Minnie. Eliza and Minnie both has the same last name so Minnie may be an 

illegitimate child of Eliza. Minnie could be a child of one of Eliza’s siblings also. More digging 

could be done to solve the mystery. Ira was a farmer, and his real estate was valued at $4,000, 

and his personal estate valued at $500. Ira’s son Bernard lived next door, as did Jesse & Biddy 

Vermillion that are also in this tree. 

 

1870 U.S. Census 

 



• In 1880, Ira lived in Lebanon, Russell County, Virginia, with is son Barnett and his family. His 

son was a farmer. 

 

1880 U.S. Census 

 
 

 

• Ira died of paralysis on 29 November 1885, in Russell County, Virginia, and is buried in Lynch-

Reynolds Cemetery, in Lebanon, Russell County, Virginia. 

 

Virginia, U.S., Death Registers, 1853-1911 

 
 

 

Headstone photos for Ira Reynolds, found on findagrave.com 

   
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



• 4th Great-Grandparents Bernhard Henry Reynolds and Lucy Johnston. 

 

• More can be learned about these ancestors in the Settles Package.  

 

• BERNHARD APPEARS TO BE A REVOLUTIONARY WAR PATRIOT, AND MAY HAVE 

FOUGHT IN THE BATTLE OF CAMDEN, AND WAS PRESENT FOR CORNWALIS’ 

SURRENDER AT YORKTOWN. 

 

 

 

 

 

• 3rd Great-Grandmother Leah Fuller was born in 1803, in Russell County, Virginia, to Abraham 

Fuller, Sr., and Mary Sergeant. 

 

• Leah married Ira Reynolds, on 12 April 1832, in Russell County, Virginia. Her story matches her 

husbands until her death. 

 

• Lead died of typhoid fever, on 20 August 1872, in Russell County, Virginia, and is buried in 

Lynch-Reynolds Cemetery, in Lebanon, Russell County, Virginia. Many others on the same 

sheet died of typhoid in the area about the same time 

 

Virginia, U.S., Death Registers, 1853-1911 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

• 4th Great-Grandparents Abraham Fuller, Sr. and Mary Sergeant. 

 

•  More can be learned about these ancestors in the Settles Package. 

 

 

 

 

 

 
----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
 

Beginning of Edward Douglas Gilmer’s Mother’s Side 

 

• Grandmother Alice Eastman Hale was born on 23 January 1909, in Rogersville, Hawkins 

County, Tennessee, to George Douglas Hale, and Minnie Elizabeth Charles. 



• In 1910, Alice lived on Broadway, in Rogersville, Hawkins County, Tennessee, with her parents, 

and five siblings. Her father was a farmer, owned his own far, but had a mortgage on in. Alice’s 

brother Vance was an electrical engineer. Everyone could read and write. The neighborhood was 

integrated, and many black families lived among white families.  

 

1910 U.S. Census 

 
 

 

• In 1920, Alice lived in Hawkins County, Tennessee, with her parents, two siblings, and her 

mother’s, mother, Mrs. L.A. Charles. Her father was a farmer and owned his farm outright. 

 

1920 U.S. Census 

 

 
 

• In 1930, Alice lived in Hawkins County, Tennessee, with her parents, and her mothers, mother. 

She was a teacher in the public schools. Her father was a farmer, owned his own farm and the 

family had a radio set, and everyone could read and write. 

 

1930 U.S. Census 

 
 

 

 



• Alice married Edward Theophilus Gilmer on 14 June 1932, in Hamblen County, Tennessee. Her 

story matches her husbands until his death in 1984.  

 

Wedding shower for Alice Hale story was published in The Rogersville Herald, in Rogersville, 

Tennessee, on 16 June 1932, found on newspapers.com 

 
 

Wedding announcement for Alice and Edward published in The Knoxville Journal, in Knoxville, 

Tennessee, on 19 June 1932, found on newspapers.com 

 
 

• Alice died on 12 April 2002, in Beckley, Raleigh County, West Virginia, and is buried in Russell 

Memorial Cemetery, in Lebanon, Russell County, Tennessee. Her headstone is shown above 

under her husband. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



Photo said to be Alice Hale found on ancestry.com 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

• Great-Grandfather George Douglas Hale was born 17 December 1853, in Rogersville, Hawkins 

County, Tennessee, to Phillip Smith Hale, and Harriet Somerville Richards. 

 

• In 1860, George lived with his parents, six siblings, and two men named Alexander Hale 

(Uncle), and Chris H. Spears. His father was a merchant, and his real estate was valued at 

$10,000, and personal estate valued at $25,000. The two men were clerks and Chris H. Spears’ 

real estate was valued at $2,000, and personal estate at $5,000.  

 

1860 U.S. Census 

 
 

 



• In 1870, George lived in Rogersville, Hawkins County, Tennessee, with his parents, nine 

siblings, and a fourteen-year-old black girl listed as a cook. His father was a retired merchant, 

and his real estate was valued at $6,000, and his personal estate valued at $21,500. George’s two 

brothers Winfield and Robert were clerks in a store, likely owned by their father. Several of the 

families nearby had homes with high value including other merchants and a lawyer.  

 

1870 U.S. Census 

 

 
  

 

• In 1880, George lived in Rogersville, Hawkins County, Tennessee, with his mother, and five 

siblings. He was a farmer. His brother James was a “Drummer” which is a traveling merchant, 

and his brother Richard was a merchant in general merchandise.  

 

1880 U.S. Census 

 
 

 

• George married Katherine L. Armstrong on 5 July 1888, in Hawkins County, Tennessee. They 

had four children. She died on 2 August 1898.  

 

• In 1900, George lived in Rogersville, Hawkins County, Tennessee, with his four sons. He was a 

widower and was a Hardware Merchant. He owned his house outright.  



1900 U.S. Census 

 
 

 

• George married Minnie Elizabeth Charles on 9 August 1900 in Hawkins County, Tennessee.  

 

• In 1910, George lived on Broadway, in Rogersville, Hawkins County, Tennessee, with his wife 

and six children. He was a farmer, owned his own far, but had a mortgage on in. His son Vance 

was an electrical engineer. Everyone could read and write. The neighborhood was integrated, and 

many black families lived among white families.  

 

• In 1920, George lived in Hawkins County, Tennessee, with his wife, three children, and his 

mother-in-law, Mrs. L.A. Charles. He was a farmer and owned his farm outright. 

 

• In 1930, George lived in Hawkins County, Tennessee, with his wife, his daughter Alice, and his 

mother-in-law. He was a farmer, owned his own farm and the family had a radio set, and 

everyone could read and write. His daughter Alice was a teacher in the public schools. 

 

• George died of chronic interstitial nephritis on 17 October 1931, Berum, Hawkins County, 

Tennessee, and is buried in Presbyterian Church Cemetery, in Rogersville, Hawkins County, 

Tennessee. 

 

Tennessee, U.S., Death Records, 1908-1965 

 



Obituary for George Hale published in The Knoxville Journal, in Knoxville, Tennessee, on 18 October 

1931, found on newspapers.com & headstone photo found on findagrave.com 

    
 

 

 

 

 

• 2nd Great-Grandfather Colonel Phillip Smith Hale was born 4 December 1814, in Kingsport, 

Sullivan County, Tennessee, to Colonel George Hale, and Margaret Hamilton. Perhaps he was 

born in Kingsport was because his father may have been off fighting in the War of 1812. There is 

much confusion in the Hawkins County records because there was anther Phillip Smith Hale 

born in 1793, and his son, Phillip Smith Hale, Jr. born about 1830. All three of them held 

military officer titles such as Major and Colonel. The Phillip of this report goes by “P.S.” in most 

records, including his headstone, which was likely due to the confusion of the names. They all 

three are named after an P.S.’ grandfather, the other two Phillips, are P. S’s uncle and first 

cousin. P.S.’s title of Colonel is found in a newspaper article about is father-in-law found below. 

His wife’s obituary mentions him as Major. A 1st Lieutenant Phillip S. Hale enlisted on 26 

September 1862, in Hawkins County, Tennessee, in Company L, 60th Mounted Tennessee 

Infantry. When the men of the 60th reported for duty to the Confederate Army, they would only 

take ten companies, and Company L disbanded. It is not known if this 1st Lt. Phillip S. Hale, is 

the same person as the subject of this report, or if he is another relative. Perhaps the title of 

Colonel was given by mistake in the article because his father was a Colonel in the War of 1812.  

 

• Phillip married Harriet Somerville Richards on 3 September 1846, in Culpeper County, 

Tennessee. 

 



In 1850, Phillip lived in Hawkins County, Tennessee, with his wife and three children. He was a 

farmer, and his real estate was valued at $3,000. 

 

 1850 U.S. Census 

 
 

 

• In 1860, Phillip lived with his wife, seven children, and two men named Alexander Hale 

(Brother), and Chris H. Spears. He was a merchant, and his real estate was valued at $10,000, 

and personal estate valued at $25,000. The two men were clerks and Chris H. Spears’ real estate 

was valued at $2,000, and personal estate at $5,000.  

 

• In 1870, Phillip lived in Rogersville, Hawkins County, Tennessee, with his wife and ten children, 

and a fourteen-year-old black girl listed as a cook. His father was a retired merchant, and his real 

estate was valued at $6,000, and his personal estate valued at $21,500. George’s two sons 

Winfield and Robert were clerks in a store, likely owned by their father. Several of the families 

nearby had homes with high value including other merchants and a lawyer.  

 

• Phillip died 22 June 1875 in Rogersville, Hawkins County, Tennessee, and is buried in 

Presbyterian Church Cemetery, in Rogersville, Hawkins County, Tennessee. 

Headstone photo for Phillip Hale, found on findagrave.com 

 



• 3rd Great-Grandfather Colonel George Hale was born 4 January 1782, in Virginia, to Phillip 

Smith Hale, and Catherine Kittie Douglass. 

 

• George married Margaret Hamilton, in 1808, likely in Tennessee. 

 

• George served in the War of 1812 as a Colonel in charge of the 4th Regiment of Hawkins County 

Militia. The Tennessee militias of this time became the famous “Tennessee Volunteers” and 

most of these units fought under General Andrew Jackson against the Creeks, and the British at 

the Battle of New Orleans. More research could be done concerning the actions of this unit in the 

War of 1812. 

 

Excerpt from the book “Historical Southern Families, Volume II, page 123 

 
 

 

• About 1837 George married Clementine Nenny, likely in Hawkins County, Tennessee. 

• In 1840, George lived in Hawkins County, Tennessee, with eight other family members and 

fifteen slaves. The slaves were made up of, 1 male and 1 female over fifty-five years old, 3 

males, and 2 females twenty-four to thirty-five, 4 males, and 1 female ten to twenty-three, and 3 

females under ten-years-old. This most likely was one large family group. 

 

• In 1850, George lived in Hawkins County, Tennessee, with his wife and three children. He was a 

farmer, and his real estate was valued at $4,200. 

 

1850 U.S. Census 

 
 

 

• In 1850, George owned twelve slaves. 

 

1 

 

 

 

 



850 U.S. Federal Census- Slave Schedules 

 
 

 

• In 1860, George lived in Rogersville, Hawkins County, Tennessee, with his son John’s family, 

another son James, and an eleven-year-old girl named Henrietta Campbell. George and his two 

sons were farmers, and George’s real estate was valued at $6,500, and his son John’s personal 

estate was valued at $3,500.  

 

1860 U.S. Census 

 
 

 

• George died 20 October 1862, in Hawkins County, Tennessee, and is possibly buried in 

Presbyterian Church Cemetery, in Rogersville, Hawkins County, Tennessee.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

• 4th Great-Grandparents, Phillip Smith Hale and Catherine Douglass. 



• More can be learned about these ancestors in the Settles Package.  

 

• IT APPEARS PHILLIP WAS ONE OF THE FIRST SETTLERS TO THE AREA OWNNING 

9,000 ACRES, AND BOTH HE AND HIS WIFE APPEAR TO HAVE REVOLUTIONARY 

WAR OFFICER ANCESTORS. 

 

 

 

 

 

• 3rd Great-Grandmother Margaret Hamilton was born 6 April 1791, in Rockbridge County, 

Virginia, to Colonel Joseph Hamilton, and Penelope Smith Outlaw. 

 

• Margaret married George Hale in 1808, likely in Tennessee. Her story matches her husbands 

until her death. 

 

• Margaret died 23 November 1835, in Hawkins County, Tennessee, and is possibly buried in 

Presbyterian Church Cemetery, in Rogersville, Hawkins County, Tennessee. 

 

 

 

 

 

• 4th Great-Grandparents Colonel Joseph Hamilton and Penelope Smith Outlaw.  

 

• More can be learned about these ancestors in the Settles Package.  

 

• IT APPEARS BOTH SIDES OF THIS FAMILY CONTAINS REVOLUTIONARY WAR 

OFFICERS, AND MORE, TO INCLUDE BEING AT THE BATTLE OF KINGS MOUNTAIN, 

& STATE OF FRANKLIN FOUNDERS. 

 

 

 

 

 

• 2nd Great-Grandmother Harriet Somerville “Somer” Richards was born 12 March 1820, in 

Culpeper County, Virginia, to Major James Richards, and Winfred Berry Benson. 

 

• Somer married Colonel Phillip Smith Hale, on 3 September 1846, in Culpeper County, Virginia. 

Her story matches her husbands until his death. Her family spent summers in Hawkins County, 

Virginia. 

 

• In 1880, Somer lived in Rogersville, Hawkins County, Tennessee, with six of her children. She 

was a widow. Her son George was a farmer. Her son James was a “Drummer” which is a 

traveling merchant, and her son Richard was a merchant in general merchandise. 

 



• In 1900, Somer lived at #2 Main Street, Rogersville, Hawkins County, Tennessee with her 

daughter Fannie, son Phillip, and two black women servants named Dosha Walker, and Mary 

Simpson, and Mary’s son Sullivan Simpson. She was a widow, could read and write, and owned 

her own house outright. Her son Phillip was a traveling shoe salesman. 

 

1900 U.S. Census 

 
 

 

• Somer died 24 January 1908, in Rogersville, Hawkins County, Tennessee, and is buried in 

Presbyterian Church Cemetery, in Rogersville, Hawkins County, Tennessee. Her headstone 

photo is with her husband’s above. 

 

 

 

 

Obituary for Somer Richards, published in the Knoxville Sentinel, in Knoxville, Tennessee on 9 

February 1908, found on newspapers.com – One error is present in this article. It states that she was 

born in Point Pleasant (West) Virginia, however other documents state Culpepper County, Virginia. 

Following the description of the rivers would put you in the vicinity of modern day Richardsville, 

Culpeper County, Virginia. Perhaps her father’s plantation was called Point Pleasant.  



    



• 3rd Great-Grandfather Major James Richards was born 2 February 1774, in Culpeper County, 

Virginia, to William Richards, and Eliza Miller. 

 

• James married Winifred Berry Benson about 1800, likely in Virginia. 

 

• In 1820, James lived in Culpeper County, Virginia, with ten other family members and thirty-

seven slaves. Eighteen people were engaged in agriculture.  

 

• In 1830, James lived in Culpeper County, Virginia, with nine other family members, and forty-

two slaves. 

 

• In 1840, James lived in Culpeper County, Virginia, with six other family members, and thirty-

four slaves. Eleven people were employed in agriculture. 

 

• James died 24 September 1844, in Hawkins County, Tennessee, and he is buried on a high 

mountain overlooking his springs. 

 

Obituary for Major James Richards published in The Journal and Tribune, in Knoxville, 

Tennessee, on 18 June 1911 

 



• 4th Great Grandparents Captain William Richards and Lydia Eliza Miller. 

 

• More can be learned about these ancestors in the Settles Package.  

 

• THIS LINE OF RICHARDS LOOKS TO GO DEEP INTO VIRGINIA. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

• 3rd Great-Grandmother Winifred Berry Benson was born in 1782, in Stafford County, Virginia, 

to James Benson, and Dullibella Berry. 

 

• Winifred married Major James Richards about 1800, likely in Virginia. Her story matches her 

husbands until his death in 1844. 

 

• In 1850, Winifred lived in Culpeper County, Virginia, with her two daughters. 

 

1850 U.S. Census 

 
 

• In 1850, Winifred owned fifteen slaves, six of which were mulatto. 

 

1850 U.S. Federal Census- Slave Schedules 

 



 
 

 

• Winifred died on 22 January 1856, in Culpeper County, Virginia. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

• 4th Great Grandparents James Benson and Dullibella Berry. 

 

• More can be learned about these ancestors in the Settles Package.  

 

 

 

 

 

• Great-Grandmother Minnie Elizabeth Charles was born 17 September 1867, in Hawkins County, 

Tennessee, to Jacob Wiley Charles, and Lucy Alice Spears. 

 

• In 1880, Minnie lived in Hawkins County, Tennessee, with her parents, three siblings, her 

mother’s sister Matilda, and two boarders named John M. Spears, and Anna Broiles. Her father 

was a farmer. Her two brothers were laborers. John M. Spears was a laborer. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



1880 U.S. Census 

 
 

 

• In 1900, Minnie lived in Burem’s Store, in Hawkins County, Tennessee, with her parents, and 

Will Arnis. He was a farmer, owned his own farm outright, and was able to read and write. Will 

Arnis was a hired hand. 

 

1900 U.S. Census 

 
 

• Minnie married George Douglas Hale, on 9 August 1900, in Hawkins County, Tennessee. Her 

story matches her husbands until his death in 1931. 

 

• In 1940, Minnie lived in Hawkins County, Tennessee alone. She was a widow, owned her own 

house that was valued at $1,200, and this census says that she had three years of college.  

 

1940 U.S. Census 

 
 

 

• In 1950, Minnie lived in Beckley, Raleigh County, West Virginia, her daughter and her husband, 

and their son Edward, Jr. Her son-in-law Edward was the owner/manager of an insurance 

company and had worked eighty hours the previous week. 

 

 

• Minnie died 1 May 1956, in Rogersville, Hawkins County, Tennessee, and is buried the Charles 

Family Cemetery, in Hawkins County, Tennessee. 

 

Photo of headstone of Minnie Charles, found on findagrave.com 



 
 

 

 

 

  

 

 

• 2nd Great-Grandfather Jacob Wiley Charles was born 14 October 1834, in Hawkins County, 

Tennessee, to Jacob Miller Charles and Sarah Haynes. 

 

• In 1850, Jacob lived in Hawkins County, Tennessee, with his parents, and six siblings. He was a 

laborer, and his father was a farmer, and his real estate was valued at $2,900. 

 

1850 U.S. Census 

 
 

 

• Jacob married Lucy Alice Spears on 22 July 1858, in Hawkins County, Tennessee. 

 

• In 1860, Jacob lived in Surgoinsville, Hawkins County, Tennessee, with his wife, his son Oscar, 

his mother-in-law, and three of his wife’s siblings. He was a farmer, his real estate was valued at 

$1,800, and personal estate was valued at $1,100. His mother-in-law’s real estate was valued at 

$3,000, and personal estate valued at $4,000. 

 

 



1860 U.S. Census 

 
 

 

• Jacob served in the Civil War as a Private, in Company B, 60th Tennessee Mounted Infantry. He 

enlisted on 14 September 1862, in Rogersville, Hawkins County, Tennessee for three years. 

When the unit was mustered into service for the war on 7 November 1862, he was listed as being 

on furlough. He must not have served the total three years for some reason because on 11 

December 1863, Jacob sold five bushels of corn to the Confederate Army for $10. It is unknown 

if he returned from furlough, or if he was granted a discharge for some reason. In 1863, his unit 

took part in the battles of Chickasaw Bayou, Chickasaw Bluff, Vicksburg, and Big Black River 

Bridge. It is unknown if Charles was present for any of these due to incomplete records. It is the 

genealogist’s opinion that since he was on furlough at the time of the musting in, and he was 

home to sell corn to the army later before his enlistment would have been up, he likely was given 

some sort of discharge. His brother John Charles served in the same unit as a 3rd Lieutenant.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Military records for Jacob W. Charles found on fold3.com 



    
 

Receipt for Jacob W. Charles selling corn to the Confederate Army, found on fold3.com (the document 

has his signature) 

 
 

 

 



• In 1870, Jacob lived in Hawkins County, Tennessee, and his family census is not found, but his 

farm information is. He had 60 acres of improved land, 190 acres of wooded land, his real estate 

was valued at $2,500, his farm implements, and machinery was valued at $130, and he earned 

$125 the previous year. He had one horse, four milk cows, twelve sheep, thirty swine, and the 

value of his livestock was $225. He had 220 bushels of winter wheat, 500 bushels of Indian corn, 

and one hundred bushels of oats. 

 

1870 U.S., Selected Federal Census Non-Population Schedules, 1850-1880 

 
 

 

• In 1880, Jacob lived in Hawkins County, Tennessee, with his wife, four children, her wife’s 

sister Matilda, and two boarders named John M. Spears, and Anna Broiles. He was a farmer. Her 

two brothers were laborers. John M. Spears was a laborer. 

 

• In 1900, Jacob lived in Burem’s Store, in Hawkins County, Tennessee, with his wife, daughter 

Minnie, and Will Arnis. He was a farmer, owned his own farm outright, and was able to read and 

write. Will Arnis was a hired hand. 

 

• In 1910, Jacob lived, in Hawkins County, Tennessee, with his wife. He was a farmer, owned his 

own farm outright, and was able to read and write. 

 

1910 U.S. Census 

 
 

 

• Jacob died 10 June 1912, in Hawkins County, Tennessee, and is buried the Charles Family 

Cemetery, in Hawkins County, Tennessee. 

 

 

 

Headstone photo for Jacob Charles, found on findagrave.com, and obituary published in the Morristown 

Gazette, in Morristown, Tennessee, on 19 June 1912, found on newspapers.com 



    
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

• 3rd Great-Grandfather Jacob Miller Charles was born 23 June 1799, in Hawkins County, 

Tennessee, to James Charles, and Dorcas Miller. 

 

• Jacob married Sarah Haynes about 1825, likely in Hawkins County, Tennessee. 

 

• In 1840, Jacob lived in Hawkins County, Tennessee, with six other family members, and five 

slaves. The slaves were two females ages 10-23, 2 females under 10, and one male 10-23. Two 

white people over 20-years-old could not read and write, and four people were employed in 

agriculture. 

 

• In 1850, Jacob lived in Hawkins County, Tennessee, with his wife and seven children. He was a 

farmer, and his real estate was valued at $2,900. His son Jacob was a farm laborer. 

 

• In 1860, Jacob lived in Mill Bend, Hawkins County, Tennessee, with his wife and. He was a 

farmer, and his real estate was valued at $5,000, and his personal estate valued at $10,500. 

 

 

 

 

 

 



1860 U.S. Census 

 

 
 

• Jacob served in the Civil War, at sixty-four years old, as a Private in Captain Miller’s Company 

of Tennessee Local Defense Troops. These units were usually made up of older men and were in 

reserve. Jacob also sold supplies to the Confederate Army on numerous occasions as shown in 

the records below. 

 

Military records for Jacob W. Charles found on fold3.com 

 

    
 

 

 

 

 

 

 



Jacob sold the Confederate Army fifteen sacks of flour for $210 on 20 September 1863 

 
 

 

Jacob sold the Confederate Army twenty-two mules, three horses, four wagons, etc. for $5,650 on 5 

May 1862 

 



Jacob sold the Confederate Army ten mules, two wagons, etc. for $3,790 on 7 June 1862 

  
 

Jacob sold the Confederate Army eleven mules, two horses, etc. for $2,955 on 17 May 1862 

  



Jacob sold the Confederate Army corn and hay for $24,000 on 23 Dec 1863 

 
 

 

• Jacob died 18 February 1869, in Hawkins County, Tennessee, and is buried the Charles Family 

Cemetery, in Hawkins County, Tennessee. 

 

Headstone photo for Jacob Miller Charles, found of findagrave.com 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 



• 4th Great-Grandparents James Charles and Dorcas Miller. 

 

• More can be learned about these ancestors in the Settles Package.  

 

 

 

 

 

• 3rd Great-Grandmother Sarah Haynes was born 18 December 1801, in Hawkins County, 

Tennessee, to Christopher Haynes, and Frances Turner. 

 

• Sarah married Jacob Miller Charles about 1825, likely in Hawkins County, Tennessee. Her story 

matches her husbands until his death in 1869. 

• In 1870, Sarah lived in Buren’s Store, Hawkins County, Tennessee, with six of her children, and 

a relative named Sarah Lawson. Her real estate was valued at $7,000, and her personal estate 

valued at $2,643. Her two sons Hannibal and Clinton were both farmers. 

 

1870 U.S. Census 

 
 

 

• In 1880, Sarah lived in Hawkins County, Tennessee, with her daughter Margaret and her family.  

Her son-in-law James King was a farmer. The lived next to another Charles family, possibly her 

husband’s brother’s family. 

 

1880 U.S. Census 

 



• Sarah died 13 June 1888, in Hawkins County, Tennessee, and is buried the Charles Family 

Cemetery, in Hawkins County, Tennessee. 

 

Headstone photo for Sarah Haynes, found on findagrave.com 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

• 4th Great-grandparents Christopher Haynes and Francis Turner. 

 

• More can be learned about these ancestors in the Settles Package.  

 

 

 

 

• 2nd Great-Grandmother Lucy Alice Spears was born 20 April 1841, in Rogersville, Hawkins 

County, Tennessee, to Lazarus Spears, and Elizabeth Mary “Polly” Amis. 

 

• In 1850, Mary lived in Hawkins County, Tennessee with her mother, grandmother Mary Amis, 

and six other siblings. Her grandfather Lazarus had died the previous year. Her mother is listed 

as a farmer and the real estate was valued at $3,300. 

 

 

 

 

 



1850 U.S. Census 

 
 

 

• Lucy married Jacob Wiley Charles on 23 July 1858, in Hawkins County, Tennessee. Her story 

matches her husbands until his death in 1912. 

 

• In 1920, Lucy lived in Hawkins County, Tennessee, with her daughter Minnie and her family. 

Her son-in-law George was a farmer and owned his farm outright. 

 

• In 1930, In 1930, Lucy lived in Hawkins County, Tennessee, with her daughter Minnie and her 

family. Her son-in-law George was a farmer, owned his own farm and the family had a radio set, 

and everyone could read and write. Her granddaughter Alice was a teacher in the public schools. 

 

• Lucy died 1 February 1933, in Hawkins County, Tennessee, and is buried the Charles Family 

Cemetery, in Hawkins County, Tennessee. 

 

 

 

Headstone photo for Lucy Spears, found on findagrave.com, and obituary published in The Knoxville 

News-Sentinel, in Knoxville, Tennessee, on 3 February 1933 



      
 

 

Tennessee, U.S., Death Records, 1908-1965 (Lucy’s daughter Minnie was the informant but didn’t 

know the father of her mother, and listed her mother’s married surname, this means Minnie did not 

know much about her grandparents. Minnie was born seven years after her grandfather died and her 

grandmother died when she was only six years old, so she would not have remembered her mother’s 

parents.) 

 



• 3rd Great-Grandfather Captain Lazarus Spears was born 29 September 1785, in possibly Halifax 

County, North Carolina, to Samuel Spears and Sarah Rebecca Smith. He is called Captain in the 

article below. No military records have been found for the War of 1812, but he may have been a 

Captain of the local militia.  

 

• Lazarus married Nancy Haynes 26 June 1810, likely in Hawkins County, Tennessee. Nancy died 

in 1826. 

 

Tennessee State Marriages, 1780-2002 

  
 

 

• In 1817, Lazarus purchased one hundred acres of land on both sides of Dodson’s Creek, from 

Thomas Haynes, and Herbert George 

 

• In 1826, Lazarus purchased thirty acres of land in Hawkins County, Tennessee. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



North Carolina and Tennessee, Early Land Records, 1753-1931 

 

 
 

 

 

• In 1830, Lazarus lived in Hawkins County, Tennessee, with five other family members, and 

thirteen slaves. The slaves were one female, 36-54, one female 24-35, three females 10-23, one 

female under 10, two males 24-35, three males 10-23, two males under 10. 

 

• Lazarus married Elizabeth Mary “Polly” Amis on 3 January 1833, in Hawkins County, 

Tennessee. 

 

• In 1840, Lazarus lived in Hawkins County, Tennessee, with six other family members, and 

fifteen slaves. The slaves were one female 55-99, two females 36-54, two females 24-35, three 

females 10-23, four females under 10, one male 10-23, two males under 10. Five people were 

employed in agriculture. 

 

• Lazarus died 4 March 1849, in Hipshire Hollow, Hawkins County, Tennessee, and is buried in 

Spears Cemetery, Hawkins County, Tennessee. 

 

 



Headstone photo for Lazarus Spears, found on findagrave.com 

 
 

 

Article about Captain Lazarus Spears found on ancestry.com 

 



• 4th Great-Grandparents Samuel Spears and Sarah Rebecca Smith. 

 

• More can be learned about these ancestors in the Settles Package.  

 

• THESE LINES APPEARS TO GO BACK DEEP INTO THE 1600S, AND SAMUEL 

APPEARS TO BE A REVOLUTIONARY WAR VET PENSIONER.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

• 3rd Great-Grandmother Elizabeth Mary “Polly” Amis was born 17 December 1812, in Ebbing 

Springs, Hawkins County, Tennessee, to Haynes Amis unknown mother. 

 

• Mary married Lazarus Spears on 3 January 1833, in Hawkins County, Tennessee. Her story 

matches her husbands until his death in 1849. 

 

• In 1850, In 1850, Mary lived in Hawkins County, Tennessee with her mother Mary Amis, and 

seven children. Her husband Lazarus had died the previous year. Mary is listed as a farmer and 

the real estate was valued at $3,300. 

 

• In 1860, Mary lived in Mill Bend, Hawkins County, Tennessee, with eight other children or 

family members. Her son Lazarus is listed as a farmer. 

 

1860 U.S. Census 

 
 

• In 1870, Mary lived in Rogersville, Hawkins County, Tennessee, with three family members.  

 

 

 

 



1870 U.S. Census 

 
 

 

• Mary died 11 November 1873, in Hawkins County, Tennessee, and is buried in Spears 

Cemetery, Hawkins County, Tennessee. 

 

Headstone photo for Mary Amis, found on findagrave.com 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

• 4th Great Grandparents Haynes Amis and Mary Unknown. 

 

• More can be learned about these ancestors in the Settles Package.  

 

• HAYENS’ LINE APPEARS TO GO BACK MUCH FURTHER, INCLUDING 

REVOLUTIONARY WAR VETS. 

 
 


